ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5209 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 3/19/2014)

10-GS-21-1008

RECEIVED

JUN - 3 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYRONE WHATLEY,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001127

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that Petitioner suffered no prejudice as a result of the circuit court's improper limitation on the scope of Petitioner's cross-examination of the state's witness, Jessica Ussery, regarding the mandatory minimum sentences she avoided by testifying against Petitioner?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on one count of burglary in the first degree, two counts of armed robbery, and one count of conspiracy. R. 253. On August 4, 2010, the state served Petitioner with its notice to seek life without parole based upon Petitioner's prior conviction for armed robbery. R. 247 lines 4-8. On February 2, 2011, the state, represented by Fitzlee H. McEachin, called the case for trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury. R. 5 lines 6-8. Scott P. Floyd represented Petitioner. R. 1. The state presented testimony from the two victims, two co-defendants, and two police officers. The jury returned its verdict finding Petitioner guilty on all counts. R. 245 lines 4-12. Judge Brown sentenced Petitioner to life without parole on the burglary and armed robbery convictions and five years on the conspiracy conviction. R. 249 line 17 - R. 250 line 3. He ordered all sentences to run concurrently. R. 250 lines 4-5.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. On January 31, 2012, undersigned counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) addressing the following issue: Did the trial court err in refusing to permit Petitioner to question Ussery, an alleged co-conspirator, regarding the sentencing range for her pending charges where the state dismissed two counts of armed robbery after she cooperated with law enforcement? On September 7, 2012, undersigned counsel provided State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012) as supplemental authority to the Court of Appeals. On December 20, 2012, the Court denied undersigned counsel's petition to be relieved and directed the parties to brief the issue: Did the circuit court improperly limit the scope of [Petitioner]'s cross-examination of the state's witness, Jessica Ussery, regarding the mandatory minimum sentences she avoided by testifying against [Petitioner]?

On March 19, 2014, the Court affirmed Petitioner's convictions for first-degree burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and conspiracy and life sentence in a published opinion. App. 1-9;

State v. Whatley, 407 S.C. 460, 756 S.E.2d 393 (Ct. App. 2014). The Court found the trial court erred in preventing Petitioner from cross-examining a cooperating co-defendant concerning the mandatory minimum sentence she faced for reduced charges pending at the time of Petitioner's trial, but found Petitioner suffered no prejudice because he had ample opportunity to demonstrate the cooperating co-defendant's bias. App. 8-9. The opinion was authored by Acting Judge Cureton and Chief Judge Few concurred. Judge Pieper concurred in result only. App. 1; App. 9.

On April 3, 2014, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing challenging the Court of Appeals' finding of no prejudice. Petitioner did not challenge the finding of error. App. 10-14. The state did not file a petition for rehearing. On April 25, 2014, the panel denied Petitioner's petition for rehearing. App. 15.

This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Petitioner suffered no prejudice as a result of the circuit court's improper limitation on the scope of Petitioner's cross-examination of the state's witness, Jessica Ussery, regarding the mandatory minimum sentences she avoided by testifying against Petitioner.

Why this Court Should Grant Certiorari

Pursuant to Rule 242(b) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, a writ of certiorari is not a matter of right and will be granted "only where there are special and important reasons." One of the characters of reasons enumerated is that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court. Another character of reason enumerated is where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved. The decision by the Court of Appeals in Petitioner's case presents a conflict with prior decisions of this Court and directly involves substantial constitutional issues. Therefore, this Court should grant certiorari.

Relevant facts

The state's theory of the case was that Petitioner along with Jessica Ussery and John Barfield barged into the hotel room of Brandon Cross and Ciera Davis on July 21, 2009 and robbed them at gunpoint. R. 50 line 24 – R. 51 line 7. Police officers apprehended Ussery shortly after the robbery in a car containing items from the robbery. R. 96 line 21- R. 97 line 2; R. 98 lines 2-7. A police officer observed two individuals run from the vehicle, but was unable to apprehend or identify them. R. 94 lines 1-13. Shortly after her arrest, Ussery confessed to her role in the robbery. R. 125 lines 1-3. Although Ussery initially provided a false name for her co-conspirator and boyfriend to officers, she eventually named Barfield. R. 171 lines 13-20. Ussery knew the other individual only as Rom or Jamal Bryant. R. 116 lines 9-17. Almost a year after his arrest, Barfield

provided officers with a nickname – Rom - for the third individual involved and the general location of Rom’s residence. R. 173 lines 13-19. Officers learned that Petitioner was a resident of the trailer in the location generally identified by Barfield. R. 173 line 24 – R. 174 line 1. Barfield then identified a photograph of Petitioner as the third co-conspirator. R. 174 lines 1-10.

Ussery testified on behalf of the state. R. 109 lines 9-11. She identified Petitioner as an individual involved in the robbery. R. 116 line 18 – R. 117 line 2. She was forced to admit that she had seen Petitioner only a few times and did not know him. R. 131 lines 6-9. When pressed, she admitted she had seen Petitioner “[m]aybe two or three times” and had no conversations with him. R. 131 lines 13-19. On cross examination, she testified she had been charged with two counts of armed robbery, failure to stop for a blue light, and false information to police. R. 130 lines 2-4. She also admitted that the armed robbery charges had been dismissed, and she was charged with accessory before and after the fact. R. 130 lines 13-17. Petitioner then questioned Ussery about the amount of time she could receive on the pending charges. R. 142 line 2. The state objected, R. 142 lines 3-5, and the judge sustained the objection with no explanation, R. 142 line 6. Petitioner then asked Ussery the possible sentence for her original charge of armed robbery. R. 142 lines 11-12. Ussery responded that she was not aware of the “full extent” but recognized it “carrie[d] a long sentence.” R. 142 lines 13-14.

The state also called Barfield to testify against Petitioner. R. 143 lines 18-19. Barfield identified Petitioner in court. R. 145 line 24 – R. 146 line 4. On cross-examination, Barfield admitted that he had been charged with two counts of armed robbery, burglary in the first degree, weapon possession and criminal conspiracy. R. 158 lines 21-22. Barfield testified that he pled guilty to two counts of attempted armed robbery and received a seven-year sentence. R. 159 lines 3-10. All other charges against him were dismissed. R. 159 lines 11-13. When Petitioner asked

Barfield how much time he was facing on the original charges, the state objected. R. 159 lines 18-21. The trial court sustained the objection. R. 160 line 1. The court permitted Petitioner to ask if Barfield could get substantially more time for armed robbery than for attempted armed robbery, R. 160 lines 6-11, and substantially more time for burglary in the first degree than for attempted armed robbery, R. 160 lines 12-14. After another witness testified for the state, the trial judge announced that he was changing his ruling. R. 184 line 10 – R. 185 line 5. He explained that his research revealed that Petitioner could question Barfield concerning the amount of time he was facing. R. 184 line 19-23. The judge ordered the state to recall Barfield and permitted Petitioner to question him. R. 184 line 24 – R. 185 line 5. When Barfield testified for the second time, he admitted that he was facing ten years to thirty years on armed robbery charges and fifteen years to life on burglary charges. R. 190 line 18 – R. 191 line 5.

Although the trial judge recognized his error in ruling the questions concerning potential sentences impermissible as to Barfield and allowed re-questioning of him, the trial judge did not permit Petitioner to re-question Ussery despite the same ruling having been made during cross-examination of her. As held by the Court of Appeals, the trial judge erred in restricting Petitioner's cross-examination of Ussery. However, the Court of Appeals' finding that Petitioner suffered no prejudice was erroneous.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him. "The Confrontation Clause requires a witness to testify under oath and submit to cross-examination so that the jury can observe the witness's demeanor and assess his credibility." State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2004), aff'd as modified on other grounds, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007). This guarantee

ensures a defendant has the opportunity to cross-examine a witness concerning bias. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974); State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002); State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). Additionally, Rule 608(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence states that “[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” To establish a violation of the Confrontation Clause, Petitioner must show that he was prohibited from asking questions designed to show bias on the part of Ussery. See Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986). In addition, the error must not have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 574, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985), State v. Sims, 348 S.C. 16, 26, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002).

Petitioner’s question to Ussery concerning the length of sentence she could receive on her pending charges and dismissed charges were appropriate questions. Numerous decisions of South Carolina’s appellate courts hold that questions regarding sentences and potential sentencing are probative of witnesses’ biases and prejudices. In light of the Court of Appeals’ finding that the judge erred in restricting Petitioner’s cross-examination of Ussery and the state did not challenge that ruling, Petitioner will not belabor the point except as necessary to provide context and demonstrate resulting prejudice.¹

¹ Ussery was charged with two counts of armed robbery and faced mandatory minimum sentences of ten years on each charge. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A). Concerning the charge of failure to stop for a blue light, Ussery faced a mandatory sentence of a fine not less than \$500 or imprisonment for not less than ninety days. See S.C. Code Ann. 56-5-750(B)(1). The two counts of armed robbery were dismissed, but she testified that she was charged with one count of accessory before the fact of armed robbery and one count of accessory after the fact of armed robbery. Ussery faced a mandatory minimum of ten years on the charge of accessory before the fact of an armed robbery because South Carolina law provides that a person convicted of accessory before the fact of a felony “must be punished in the manner prescribed for the punishment of the principal felon.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-40. Concerning the second charge of accessory after the fact of an armed

In Gracey, 399 S.C. at 373-374, 731 S.E.2d at 885-886, this Court held the trial court erred in improperly limiting the scope of defense counsel's cross-examination of state's witnesses concerning the witnesses facing mandatory minimum sentences that were significantly longer than the sentences received in exchange for their cooperation. The prosecution made plea deals with multiple cooperating witnesses against Gracely. Those deals permitted the witnesses to avoid several mandatory minimum terms of imprisonment. Id. at 374, 731 S.E.2d at 885-886. The trial court permitted defense counsel to question the witnesses regarding the maximum sentences permissible for the charged offenses, but limited counsel's questioning regarding mandatory minimums. Id. at 374, 731 S.E.2d at 886. This limitation prevented counsel "from demonstrating the possible bias arising from the plea deals through an examination reaching the requisite degree of granularity." Id. This Court made clear "[t]he fact that a cooperating witness avoided a mandatory minimum sentence is critical information that a defendant must be allowed to present to the jury." Id. at 374-375, 731 S.E.2d at 886 (emphasis in the original).

Additionally relevant to the instant matter, this Court noted that one witness admitted that the drug offense carried a mandatory minimum of twenty-five years' imprisonment, but explained that "[i]t is of no moment that at some point during the proceedings one of the witnesses confirmed the existence of a mandatory minimum sentence ... [because Gracely] was unable to fully develop this information through cross-examination." Id. at 375 n. 4, 731 S.E.2d at 886 n. 4.

robbery, Ussery faced up to fifteen years. Punishment for accessory after the fact of an armed robbery is imprisonment not more than fifteen years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-55 (providing that a person who commits the offense of accessory after the fact must be punished based upon the classification below the punishment provided for the principal offense, except for Class A, which requires a penalty as prescribed for a Class D felony); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-90 (A)(robbery while armed with a deadly weapon is a Class A felony); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-20(A)(4)(punishment for a Class D felony is not more than fifteen years).

In the instant case, Ussery testified that although her charges had been changed or reduced, she had no negotiated plea or plea agreement with the state. The trial judge's refusal to permit Petitioner to ask Ussery about potential sentencing on her pending charges was clear error, as found by the Court of Appeals and not challenged by the state, because the question probed Ussery's bias, the primary tool of cross-examination. This was particularly egregious because the reduced charges of accessory after the fact of a felony permitted Ussery to avoid the mandatory minimum sentences of armed robbery.

The primary focus of this petition is on whether the trial court's error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the Court of Appeals found error, but determined Petitioner did not suffer prejudice from the error. See Gracely, 399 S.C. at 375, 731 S.E.2d at 886; Gillian, 360 S.C. at 454, 602 S.E.2d at 73; Mizzell, 349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318; Graham, 314 S.C. at 385, 444 S.E.2d at 527. The Court of Appeals' determination that the limitation placed upon Petitioner's cross-examination of Ussery did not prevent a full picture of her possible bias was in error and in direct contradiction of this Court's holding in Gracely, *supra*. As the Court acknowledged, the only witnesses who placed Petitioner at the crime scene were cooperating co-defendants, one of whom was Ussery. Therefore, the testimony of Ussery was vital to the prosecution. However, the Court determined Petitioner suffered no harm due to the trial judge's erroneous limitation on cross-examination because Barfield, the other cooperating witness, provided the same material facts as Ussery. Thus, the Court determined it was cumulative to Barfield's testimony, and as a result, Petitioner was not harmed by the limitation to explore Ussery's bias. This was error.

Harmless error analysis is fact-specific. The United States Supreme Court delineated a list of factors for courts to consider in determining whether an error was harmless. These factors include, but are not limited to:

the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684; see also Gracely, 399 S.C. at 375, 731 S.E.2d at 886; Mizell, 349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318-19.

In Gracely, 399 S.C. at 376-377, 731 S.E.2d at 887, this Court found the Confrontation Clause violation was not harmless even where the evidence presented was cumulative regarding Gracely's involvement in drug trafficking. This Court explained that the testimony "only corroborated other testimony," and the prosecution presented no physical evidence connecting Gracely to the charged offenses. This "enhanced the importance of that testimony, and the necessity that [Gracely] be permitted to demonstrate any bias on the part of the State's witnesses." Id. at 376, 731 S.E.2d at 887. This Court also expressed that the background of the witnesses "should have cautioned the trial court against limiting [Gracely]'s cross examination." Id. at 377, 731 S.E.2d at 887. The witnesses in Gracely had significant involvement in criminal activity and cooperated only after arrest and the prospect of long prison terms. "In a case built on circumstantial evidence, including testimony from witnesses with such suspect credibility, a ruling preventing a full picture of the possible bias of those witnesses cannot be harmless." Id.

This Court held a violation of the Confrontation Clause was not harmless even where the facts did not fall squarely within the Van Arsdall factors. Graham, 314 S.C. at 385, 444 S.E.2d at 527-528. The witness, Simmons, first invoked his Fifth Amendment right not to incriminate

himself where there was still a pending murder indictment against him despite his guilty plea to accessory to murder after the fact. Id. at 386, 444 S.E.2d at 528. The prosecutor claimed the plea agreement was valid only if the state called Simmons and Simmons testified truthfully, which the state defined as consistent with a prior statement that he was drunk and had no knowledge of the surrounding events. Id. at 386-387, 444 S.E.2d at 528. The prosecutor acknowledged he could not prevent Simmons from testifying, but continued to threaten further prosecution unless Simmons testified truthfully, as defined by the prosecutor. Id. Predictably, Simmons testified he was drunk and had no knowledge of the murder. Id. Graham then proffered the testimony of another witness who stated that Simmons informed the witness that he would have no further problems with the victim and that Simmons had killed the victim. Id. This Court stated that the prosecutor's attempted manipulation of Simmons' testimony and the witness' proffered testimony raised the question of the extent of Simmons' involvement in the murder. Id. This Court held the jury was entitled to know Simmons' sentence of only eight years as murder was a serious crime for which Graham, who was sixteen, received a life sentence and Simmons avoided the heavy penalty "for what may have been his silence." Id.

In Mizzell, this Court held the trial court's error in limiting cross-examination of a witness concerning potential sentencing was not harmless because the witness provided the only evidence of the defendants' participation in the crime. 349 S.C. at 334, 563 S.E.2d at 319. Although some of the testimony from the witness was cumulative, the witness provided the only evidence that the defendants were at the crime scene as there was no physical evidence implicating the defendants. Id.

Also, in State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991), this Court held a trial court's limitation on the defendant's cross examination of a state's witness was not harmless

error. The witness testified that in return for her testimony she was allowed to plead guilty to one count of conspiracy for which she could receive a maximum of seven and one-half years. Id. However, the defendant was prevented from asking the witness the punishment for trafficking cocaine, the original charge for the witness. Id. This Court noted that the witness faced a mandatory sentence of at least twenty-five years without parole for the trafficking cocaine charge. Id. This Court held the fact that the mandatory minimum was more than three times the duration she would face on her plea to conspiracy was critical evidence of potential bias. Id. Additionally, the witness's testimony was critical to the prosecution's case because she provided the only evidence of the defendant's knowing involvement in the drug deal. Id. at 171-172, 399 S.E.2d at 594.

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