STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Florence County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5209 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 19, 2014)
Appellate Case No. 2014-001127

RECEIVED

JUL - 1 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TYRONE WHATLEY,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly determined Petitioner suffered no prejudice as a result of the trial court's improper limitation on the scope of Petitioner's cross-examination of State's witness Jessica Ussery regarding the mandatory minimum sentences she avoided by testifying against Petitioner.

Relevant Facts

On July 21, 2009, Brandon Cross and Ciera Davis were asleep in their motel room when Davis heard a knock on the door. (R. 59, lines 1-11; R. 76, lines 6-25; R. 77, lines 1-25; R. 78, lines 1-11.) She looked through the peephole and saw a woman. (R. 78, lines 12-20.) As she opened the door, two men burst through. (R. 78, lines 21-25; R. 79, lines 1-2.) One man was carrying a gun and both demanded money. (R. 63, lines 12-18; R. 65, lines 20-21; R. 79, lines 11-25; R. 80, lines 1-5.) Cross was able to get out of the motel room, and he ran downstairs and asked a man in an Explorer to call the police. (R. 66, lines 14-25; R. 67, lines 4-9.) Cross saw the men come down with bags and a gun and jump into a small, burgundy, two-door car and drive away. (R. 67, lines 16-25; R. 68, lines 1-10.)

As Sergeant John F. McLaurin of the Florence County Sheriff's Office was responding to the 911 call, he saw the burgundy car pull out right in front of him. (R. 92, lines 4-24.) He activated his blue lights and initiated a traffic stop. (R. 93, lines 2-4.) After initially failing to stop, Jessica Ussery, the driver, eventually stopped and Petitioner and John Barfield ran from the stopped car. (R. 93, lines 5-22; R. 94, lines 1-7; R. 97, lines 21-25; R. 97, lines 1-5.) Ussery was arrested at the scene, and Barfield and Petitioner were eventually arrested. (R. 123, lines 14-18; R. 142, lines 8-10; R. 171, lines 2-9; R. 172, lines 22-23; R. 174, lines 8-25.) Petitioner was charged with and ultimately

indicted on two counts of armed robbery, one count of first-degree burglary, and one count of conspiracy. (R. 253.)

At trial, the State called Ussery to the stand. (R. 109, line 10.) She testified she drove her boyfriend, Barfield, to a trailer park to pick up Barfield's friend, Rom, also known as Jamal Bryant, who Ussery identified as Petitioner. (R. 114, lines 4-25; R. 115, lines 1-16; R. 116, lines 9-25; R. 117, lines 1-2; R. 125, lines 12-17.) Ussery testified that when they picked Petitioner up, he had a shotgun with him, which he put in the trunk of Ussery's car. (R. 115, lines 17-24; R. 117, lines 4-9.) She testified Barfield told her he needed to stop at the Days Inn to pick up some money from someone who owed him. (R. 118, lines 1-6.) She recounted that when they arrived at the motel room, Barfield told her to knock on the door and then Barfield pushed his way into the room and Petitioner followed him. (R. 119, lines 13-17; R. 120, lines 14-24.) She explained that after they arrived at the motel, Barfield had the gun. (R. 119, lines 4-18.) Ussery testified that both Barfield and Petitioner were carrying bags, pocketbooks, and clothes when they came out of the motel room. (R. 121, line 25; R. 122, lines 1-2.) She drove them away from the motel and saw blue lights behind her. (R. 121 line 13-R. 122, line 20.) She turned into the Merita Bread parking lot and both men jumped out of the car, ran, and told her not to say anything. (R. 121, line 11-2, lines 20-25.)

On cross-examination, Petitioner asked Ussery about her original charges, and she explained she was charged with two counts of armed robbery with a deadly weapon, failure to stop for a blue light, and falsification of information to the police. (R. 129, lines 22-25; R. 130, lines 1-11.) Ussery further testified her two armed robbery charges were dropped to accessory before the fact and after the fact. (R. 130, lines 12-20.) Petitioner did not ask Ussery what the principal crime was for which she was charged

with accessory before and after the fact. (R. 130, lines 12-21.) Petitioner later asked Ussery if she knew what her exposure was on her pending accessory charges, and she answered that she did not know.¹ (R. 141, lines 22-25; R. 142, line 1.) The State objected to Petitioner questioning Ussery regarding the amount of time she faced on those charges, and the trial court sustained the objection. (R. 142, lines 3-6.) Petitioner then asked Ussery if she was aware of what kind of time she faced on the armed robbery charges. (R. 142, lines 8-12.) She testified, "No, sir; not of the full extent, no, sir. It carries a long sentence." (R. 142, lines 13-14.) Petitioner then asked, "So nobody's ever told you what arm[ed] robbery carries?" (R. 142, lines 18-19.) Ussery answered, "I'm not aware of or how long the year term is." (R. 142, line 20.) The State made no objection to this line of questioning. Petitioner then questioned Ussery about whether she had received a plea bargain in exchange for her testimony and she testified she was not aware of any plea bargain or deal for her testimony. (R. 142, lines 21-25; R. 143, lines 1-6.)

The State then called Barfield. (R. 143, lines 18-19.) Barfield testified that he and Petitioner talked about committing a robbery and that Petitioner brought a gun with him when Barfield and Ussery picked him up. (R. 148, lines 1-4, 24-25; R. 149, lines 1-24.) He testified he put the gun in his pants when he got out of the car at the motel room. (R. 151, lines 1-24.) He testified he and Petitioner entered the motel room and asked the victims, "Where is the dope and the money?" (R. 151, lines 19-24; R. 152, lines 7-25.) Barfield testified that when they left the motel in Ussery's car, law enforcement got

¹ When Appellant brought up Ussery's accessory charges a second time, he still did not ask her what the principal crime was for which she was charged with accessory before and after the fact. (R. 141, lines 13-21.)

behind them. (R. 155, lines 2-9.) When they reached a Merita Bread store, he and Petitioner jumped out of the car and ran. (R. 155, lines 12-21.)

On cross-examination, Petitioner asked Barfield about his original charges and what charges had been disposed of. (R. 158, lines 20-25; R. 159, lines 1-17.) Barfield explained he was originally charged with conspiracy, weapon possession, burglary first, and two counts of armed robbery. (R. 158, lines 20-24.) He further testified that all of those charges were dismissed and he pled guilty to two counts of attempted armed robbery, receiving a seven-year sentence. (R. 158, line 25; R. 159, lines 1-17.) Petitioner then asked Barfield, "Did you know what you were facing for arm[ed] robbery?" (R. 159, line 18.) At that point, the State objected to his questioning him regarding the amount of time he was subjected to, and the trial court sustained the objection after an off-the-record bench conference. (R. 159, lines 19-25; R. 160, lines 1-2.) Petitioner continued with his cross-examination by asking Barfield if he was aware he could receive substantially more time for the armed robbery and burglary charges that were dismissed than what he received for attempted armed robbery, and Barfield testified that he was aware. (R. 160, lines 6-16.)

Next, the State called Investigator Alvin Powell of the Florence County Sheriff's Office. (R. 166, lines 6-7; R. 167, lines 2-3.) He testified he interviewed Ussery and Barfield, and Barfield gave him Petitioner's name and address. (R. 173, lines 13-25; R. 174, line 1.) Barfield confirmed Petitioner's identity through a photo identification. (R. 174, lines 1-10.) Investigator Powell testified he was the one who arrested Petitioner and collected evidence in the case. (R. 174, lines 11-25.)

After Investigator Powell's testimony, the trial judge met with the attorneys in chambers. (R. 184, lines 6-9.) The trial judge then announced on the record that he had

determined, based on State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2004), aff'd as modified on other grounds, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007), that Petitioner should have been able to ask about the amount of time Barfield faced. (R. 184, lines 10-23.) Specifically, the trial judge found questioning of that nature could go to the bias or prejudice of the witness, and he decided to allow Petitioner to question Barfield regarding the amount of time he was facing. (R. 184, lines 23-25; R. 185, lines 1-5.) The trial judge specifically stated, "And if he knows the answer, he can answer it. If he doesn't know, he doesn't know." (R. 185, lines 1-5.) After the trial court explained to the jury that he had changed his ruling, the following exchange took place:

Q: Mr. Barfield, earlier when we discussed the fact that you were charged with two counts of arm[ed] robbery - - -

A: Yes, sir.

Q: - - - did you understand that you were facing from minimum ten to maximum 30 years on those two counts?

A: At the time of the robbery, no. After I spoke to my lawyer, yes.

Q: And you were also charge[d] with one count of burglary first; is that correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And did you understand that you were facing a minimum of 15 years to life on that charge?

A: Yes, sir.

(R. 189, lines 16-25; R. 190, lines 1-25; R. 191, lines 1-5.)

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty on all counts, and Petitioner was sentenced to life for burglary and both counts of armed robbery and five years' imprisonment for conspiracy. (R. 249, lines 17-25; R. 250, lines 1-5.)

Discussion

Petitioner argued to the Court of Appeals that the trial court erred in limiting the scope of his cross-examination of Jessica Ussery regarding the mandatory minimum sentences she avoided by testifying against Petitioner. Specifically, he argued that when the trial judge recognized his error in limiting Petitioner's cross-examination of Barfield regarding the amount of time Barfield faced for his original armed robbery charges and allowed Petitioner to question him again, the trial judge should also have done the same with Ussery. The Court of Appeals agreed with Petitioner that the trial court erred in preventing Petitioner from cross-examining Ussery concerning the mandatory minimum sentence she faced for the reduced charges pending against her at the time of Petitioner's trial. However, the Court found that because Petitioner had ample opportunity to demonstrate Ussery's bias, he suffered no prejudice. Thus, the Court affirmed the trial court's decision.

When cross-examining a witness in regard to the potential for bias, considerable latitude must be allowed. Gillian, 360 S.C. at 450, 602 S.E.2d at 71. Any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality of the witness. State v. Brewington, 297 S.C. 97, 101, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976). Limitations placed on a defendant's ability to cross-examine a witness constitute a Confrontation Clause violation when the defendant is prohibited from engaging in "**otherwise appropriate cross-examination**" designed to show a prototypical form of bias from which jurors could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986) (emphasis added). "The appropriate question under a Confrontation Clause analysis is whether there has been any interference with the defendant's

opportunity for effective cross-examination at trial.” Gillian, 360 S.C. at 450, 602 S.E.2d at 71.

However, although a defendant is entitled to an opportunity for meaningful cross-examination, the scope of that cross-examination still rests in the trial judge’s sound discretion. State v. Whitner, 380 S.C. 513, 519, 670 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct. App. 2008). A defendant’s right to confront the witnesses against him does not deprive the trial judge of his usual discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007). Trial judges may impose reasonable limitations on cross-examination designed to show bias “based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’s safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” State v. Jenkins, 322 S.C. 360, 364, 474 S.E.2d 812, 814 (Ct. App. 1996). The limitation of cross-examination constitutes reversible error only if the defendant establishes **unfair prejudice** resulted from the limitation. State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991) (emphasis added).

In State v. Gracely, the appellant argued “the trial court erred in refusing to allow defense counsel to cross-examine the State’s witnesses regarding the mandatory minimum sentences they avoided by testifying against [him].” 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012). Gracely discussed State v. Brown, in which a witness testified in exchange for a lesser sentence and “was permitted to *avoid* a mandatory prison term of more than three times the duration she would face on her plea to conspiracy” Id. at 373, 731 S.E.2d at 885 (quoting Brown, 303 S.C. at 171-72, 399 S.E.2d at 594). This Court found this was “critical evidence of potential bias that appellant should have been permitted to present to the jury.” Id. This Court in Gracely clarified Brown by stating,

“The fact that a cooperating witness avoided a *mandatory minimum* sentence is critical information that a defendant must be allowed to present to the jury.” Id. at 374-75, 731 S.E.2d at 886.

The purpose of Rule 608(c), SCRE, is that a defendant be allowed to explore any “bias, prejudice, or other motive to misrepresent” such that the jury gets a clear picture of a witness with which to judge her credibility. Cross-examination is the tool used to highlight any biases that may exist. Here, the trial court allowed a meaningful cross-examination with numerous opportunities for impeachment, including specifically allowing Petitioner to inquire into whether Ussery believed she would get to plead to reduced charges in exchange for testifying. Ussery testified her armed robbery charges had been dropped to accessory charges but that she had not yet been given any deals or plea bargains. Just as this Court pointed out in State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 329, 563 S.E.2d 315, 316 (2002), this particular testimony was highly probative of bias because the jury could have inferred that Ussery would be more likely “to engage in biased testimony in order to obtain a future recommendation for leniency.” Mizzell at 332-33, 563 S.E.2d at 318.

Even though the Court of Appeals found the trial court erred in excluding evidence of potential sentences for Ussery’s pending charges, it properly found Petitioner suffered no prejudice. “A violation of the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is not *per se* reversible error if the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Mizzell at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318 (quoting State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994)). In Mizzell, this Court found the harmless error analysis depends on the particular facts of each case and upon the following factors: “the importance of the witness’s testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony

was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution's case." Mizzell at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318-19 (citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986)).

Here, the Court of Appeals found the improper limitation the trial court imposed upon Petitioner's cross-examination of Ussery did not "prevent[] a full picture of [her] possible bias." State v. Whatley, 407 S.C. 460, 468, 756 S.E.2d 393, 397 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Gracely, 399 S.C. at 377, 731 S.E.2d at 887). In addressing the first three Van Arsdall factors, the Court found that although Ussery's testimony was important to the State's case, it was cumulative to, and corroborated by, Barfield's testimony. The Court noted Barfield's testimony established the same material facts as Ussery's and Ussery's testimony did not contradict Barfield's on any essential point. Both Ussery and Barfield recounted the same events in their testimony: (1) they picked up Petitioner and drove him to the motel, (2) Petitioner supplied the gun while Barfield carried it, and (3) both men left Ussery to fend for herself after the police stopped her vehicle. Importantly, the Court noted that without Ussery's testimony, evidence of the above events was presented through Barfield.

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